IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 99-11299

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
SHARANDA PURLETTE JONES,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas
(3:99-CR-111-1-P)

February 16, 2001
Bef ore GOODW N, GARWOOD and JONES, Circuit Judges.™
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel | ant Sharanda Purl ette Jones (Jones) appeal s her
convictionand |life sentence for conspiracy to distribute cocai ne base.
We affirm

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow
On June 8, 1999, the grand jury for the Northern D strict of Texas,

Dal | as D vi si on, charged Jones i n a seven count supersedi ng i ndi ct nent.

“Circuit Judge of the NNnth Grcuit, sitting by designation.

“"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5 the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on shoul d not be published and i s not precedent except under the
limted circunstances set forth in 5THGQR R 47.5. 4.



Count 1 al | eged conspiracy, from®“at | east i nor about June 1994" unti |
Septenber 1998, to commt the of fense of “distribution of 50 grans or
nmore of a m xture or substance contai ni ng a det ect abl e anount of cocai ne
base, a Schedule |l controlled substance” inviolationof 21 U S.C. 88
841(a) (1), 841 (b)(1)(A(iii) and 846. Count 1 nanmed Jones and five
ot her conspirators plus others known and unknown to the grand jury,
| i sted eight overt acts! “anong ot hers” and, in addition, incorporated
the all egations set forthin Counts 2-7 as overt acts. Counts 2-7 each
charged Jones and others with having commtted on or about diverse
specific dates in February 1998 one specific act of distribution of
cocaine baseinviolationof 21 U . S.C 88 841(a)(1) and (b) (1) (A) (iii),
and 18 U.S.C. § 2. Overt acts 1 and 8, as well as the specific acts
allegedin Counts 2-7, pertainedtothe distribution of cocai ne out of
the residence of Jones’s nother (and nanmed co-conspirator) Genice
Stribling, located at 705 Rosehill in Terrell, Texas.

At trial, the governnent sought to prove that Jones purchased | arge
anount s of powder cocai ne fromdeal ers i n Houst on, Texas and soldupto
40 kg of powder cocaine to Julie Franklin and Keith Jackson. Both
Frankl i n and Jackson entered i nto pl ea agreenents wi th t he gover nnent
and testifiedat trial. One of the Houston suppliers of cocai ne, Joseph

Antoi ne, alsoenteredintoapleaagreenent andtestifiedat trial. The

These overt acts were al |l eged t o have been comi tted on or about
specific dates in February 1995, June 1997, Novenber 1997, July 1998,
and May 1998, and al so i ncl uded al | egati ons of di verse conti nui ng or
repeat ed conduct fromJanuary 1997 until May 1998, fromJanuary 1997
until Novenber 1997, and from June 1994 until Novenber 1997.
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gover nnent sought to showthat the dwel Il ing at 705 Rosehill was a “crack
house” and t hat Jones suppli ed t he house wi t h cocai ne base (“crack”) and
ran the operation, e.g. controllingthe price at which the cocai ne base
was sold and the |i ke. On August 16, 1999, over Jones’s objection, the
district court granted the governnent’ s notionto sever thetrials of
the ot her five coconspirators nanmedin Count 1. On August 26, 1999, a
jury convicted Jones on Count 1 and acquitted her on Counts 2-7.
The pre-sentence report (“PSR’) hel d Jones accountabl e for atotal
of 23.92 ki | ograns of cocai ne base, produci ng a base of fense | evel of
38. Under U S . S.G 8 2D1.1(a)and (c), the base offense | evel for a
def endant hel d responsi bl e for over 1.5 kg of cocai ne baseis 38. The
23.92 kg represents 10.528 kg of cocai ne base distributed fromthe
dwel I'i ng at 705 Rosehi || and 26. 78 kg of powder cocai ne t hat Jones sol d
toJulie Franklinand Kei th Jackson knowi ng t hat t hey were converti ng
it to cocai ne base. 13.39 kg of the 23.92 kg total represents the
anount of cocai ne base that the 26. 78 kg of 50% pure powder cocai ne
woul d be converted into. The PSRal so recommended a two | evel increase
for possession of afirearm The governnent objected to the report
because it did not recommend any i ncreases for being the | eader or
organi zer of the conspiracy or for obstruction of justice (perjury).
The probati on of fi ce accepted t he governnent’ s obj ecti ons and anended
its report to include a four |evel increase for Jones’s role in the
of fense and atwo | evel increase for her fal se denials of guilt onthe

stand. The anended report yielded atotal offense | evel of 46 which,



notw t hstandi ng Jones’s crimnal history category of |, yielded a
gui del i ne range of inprisonnent for life. On Novenber 10, 1999, the
district court sentenced Jones to life in prison.

Jones appeal s her convi ction and sentence. She argues that her
acquittal on Counts 2-7 indicates that the jury did not believe she was
i nvol ved with the al | eged crack deal ing at 705 Rosehill. Specifically,
she asserts: 1) there was a fatal vari ance between the i ndi ct nent, whi ch
al | eged one conspi racy, and t he evi dence adduced at trial, whi ch showed
three conspiracies; 2) since it cannot be determ ned whether the
conspiracy conviction rested upon the defendant’s Franklin-Jackson
activities or her 705 Rosehill activities, the case nust be remanded
because t he evi dence as to the 705 Rosehi || activitiesisinsufficient;
3) Apprendi v. NewJersey, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000), necessitates that her
sent ence be overturned because the jury was not requiredto findthat
t he anmount of cocai ne base she conspiredto distribute was at | east 50g;
and 4) the district court commtted clear error when it accepted the
PSR s recommendat i ons as to t he anount of cocaine attributedto her as
wel | as t he enhancenents for possession of afirearm her rol e as | eader
or organi zer of the conspiracy, and obstruction of justice (perjury).

Di scussi on
l.

Count 1 of the supersedi ng indictnent charges Jones wi th nmenber shi p

i naconspiracy that obtai ned powder cocai ne fromsuppliers in Houston.

Sone of the Houston cocai ne was sold by Jones to Julie Franklin and



Kei t h Jackson, who converted t he powder cocai ne i nt o cocai ne base bef ore
sellingthe crack toothers. Sone of the Houston cocai ne was converted
i nt o cocai ne base and sol d out of the residence at 705 Rosehill. Jones
al | eges the proof at trial showed not one, but three, conspiracies: (1)
Ant oi ne’ s sal es of powder cocaine from Houston, (2) Franklin and
Jackson’ s acqui sition of powder cocai ne and di stribution of cocai ne
base, and (3) cocai ne base distribution fromthe residence at 705
Rosehi I | .

Where the evidence suffices to showthe defendant’s guilt of a
conspiracy enbracedinthe all egations of theindictnent, even t hough
ot her conspiraci es may al so be enbraced therein, the doctri ne of fatal
vari ance principally exists to prevent a def endant frombei ng prej udi ced
by the transference of guilt that can occur when vol um nous evi dence
that only inplicates others is presented at trial. United States v.
Pena- Rodri guez, 110 F.3d 1120, 1126 (5th G r. 1997).

To prevail on her fatal variance claim Sharanda Jones nust
establishthat: (1) avariance exi sted between the i ndi ctnent and t he
proof at trial, and (2) the vari ance affected her substantial rights.
| d. Determ ni ng whet her a vari ance exi sted requires us to ascertain
what nunber of conspiraci es was proven at trial. Id. O course, itis
often the case that “[w] hether the evidence shows one or nmultiple
conspiracies is a question of fact for the jury.” United States v.
Pena- Rodri guez, 110 F. 3d 1120, 1126 (5th G r. 1997) (quoting United

States v. Guerra-Marez, 928 F. 2d 665, 671 (5th Cr. 1991)). Here, the



jury received Fifth Grcuit Pattern Jury Instruction 2.21, Miltiple
Conspiracies.? No objection to this charge or request for further
instructionsinthisrespect was nade by Jones. The jury’ s conviction
as to Count 1 manifests that it found not only that the single
conspiracy all egedintheindictnent existed, but al sothat Jones was
a nmenber of that conspiracy. “Ajury’s finding that the governnent
proved a si ngl e conspi racy nust be affirned unl ess t he evi dence vi ewed
inthelight nost favorabl e to the gover nnment woul d precl ude reasonabl e
jurors fromfinding a single conspiracy beyond a reasonabl e doubt.”
Pena- Rodri guez, 110 F.3d at 1126. “The principal considerations in
counting conspiracies are (1) the exi stence of a conmon goal ; (2) the
nat ure of the schene; and (3) the overl appi ng of the participantsinthe
various dealings.” Id. (quotingUnited Statesv. Mrris, 46 F. 3d 410,
414 (5th Gir. 1995)).

Thi s Court has taken a very broad viewof thefirst criterion, the
exi stence of a common goal. United States v. Morris, 46 F. 3d 410, 415
(5th Gr. 1995). It is enoughthat the all eged conspirators shared a
conmmon goal to “derive personal gainfromtheillicit business of buying

and selling cocaine.” Id. Al of the naned conspirators sharedthis

2Fifth Grcuit PJI 2.21 provides:

“You must determ ne whether the conspiracy charged in the
i ndi ctment exi sted, and, if it did, whether the def endant was a nenber
of it. If youfindthat the conspiracy charged di d not exi st, then you
must return anot guilty verdict, even t hough you fi nd t hat sone ot her
conspiracy existed. If youfindthat a def endant was not a nenber of
the conspiracy charged in the indictnment, then you nust find that
def endant not guilty, even t hough t hat def endant may have been a nenber
of sone other conspiracy.”



goal .

Astothe secondcriterion, the nature of the schenme, “this [Court
has noved to a nore functional and substantive analysis. . . . [T]he
exi stence of asingleconspiracywll beinferredwherethe activities
of one aspect of the schene are necessary or advant ageous to t he success
of anot her aspect or tothe overall success of the venture, where there
are several parts inherent in alarger common plan.” Id. at 415-16.
In Mrris, we found nenbers of two separate crimnal organi zati ons t hat
conpet ed agai nst each other in the supply of cocaine to be part of a
si ngl e conspi racy because bot h organi zati ons sol d bul k quantities of
cocai ne to the sane cocai ne di stributor. W observedthat “althoughthe
sell ers and t he purchasers nmay not have had adirect relationshipwth
each other, each was necessary for the continued success of the
venture.” |d. at 416. Here, thejury couldreasonably findthat Jones,
over an extended period of tine and through a regul ar course of dealing,
was recei vi ng cocai ne fromAnt oi ne and supplyingit to Franklin, Jackson
and those i n busi ness at 705 Rosehill. Under Morris, the jury could
reasonably find that those i n busi ness at 705 Rosehill, Franklin and
Jackson, and Antoi ne were all contributingtothe success of the sane
crimnal venture and, therefore, were part of a single conspiracy
notw t hst andi ng the absence of direct rel ationships.

Finally, thethirdcriterion, the overl appi ng of participantsin
t he vari ous dealings, is satisfiedunder Morrisif thereis sufficient

evi dence t hat Frankl i n and Jackson, those i n busi ness at 705 Rosehi l |,



and Antoi ne were all conspiringwith Jonestotransact illicit business
i n cocai ne. | d. It is not necessary that any of these other
partici pants knoweach ot her as | ong as each knowi ngly participatedwth
core coconspirator Jones to achi eve acomongoal. 1d.; United States
v. Gl |l ardo- Trapero, 185 F. 3d 307, 315 (5th Cir. 1999). Jones admts
that the governnent’s proof showed that she purchased cocai ne from
Ant oi ne and sol d cocaineto Julie Franklin. The evidence showed t hat
Jones and Frankl i n contenpl at ed t hat t he powder cocai ne soldto Franklin
woul d be converted into crack for resale, as when Franklinreported a
significant quantity of the powder woul d not properly cook-up Jones
replacedit. Aregular course of dealing over an extended peri od was
adequat el y shown.

Thus, the question of whether a variance exists boils down to
whet her the evidence at trial was such that a reasonabl e juror coul d
have bel i eved, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that Jones conspired with
those in business at 705 Rosehill to distribute cocai ne base.

To sustainaconvictionfor conspiracy to distribute cocai ne base
under 21 U S.C. 88 841(a) and 846, the evidence at trial nust be
sufficient for a reasonable juror to conclude, beyond a reasonabl e
doubt: (1) the exi stence of an agreenent between two or nore persons to
di stri bute cocai ne base, (2) the defendant’ s know edge of the agreenent,
and 3) the defendant’s voluntary participation in the conspiracy.
Gal | ardo- Trapero, 185 F. 3d at 317. The evidenceis viewedinthelight

nost favorabl e tothe prosecution, drawi ng all reasonabl e i nferences in



support of the jury' s verdict. 1d. G rcunstantial evidence nay be
relied upon. 1d.

In support of her insufficiency claim Jones points to her
acquittal on Counts 2-7, which concerned the distribution of cocaine
base from705 Rosehill. Jones infers fromher acquittal on Counts 2-7
that the jury did not believe she was at all involved in the drug
deal i ng that occurred at 705 Rosehill. She infers too nuch. First,
besi des appel | ant Shar anda Jones, Count 1 of the i ndi ctment specifically
named Genice Stribling, Mtchell W King, Sharena Stri bling, Earnest
Jones, and Kevi n Henderson. These five i ndivi dual s were not associ at ed
with the Antoi ne or Franklin-Jackson aspects of the conspiracy. As
previously nentioned, Count 1 alsoreferredto other conspirators both
known and unknown to the grand jury, presumably Julie Franklinand Keith
Jackson. I nfinding Jones a nenber of the conspiracy i nvol ving t hese
five naned coconspirators, thejury had to believe Jones was, to sone
extent at | east, involvedw ththe distribution of cocai ne base out of
t he resi dence at 705 Rosehill. Moreover, evenif conviction on Count
1 was i nconsi stent with acquittal on Counts 2-7, the conviction on Count
1 stands unl ess thereis not sufficient evidenceto support it. United
States v. Short, 181 F.3d 620, 625 (5th Cr. 1999).

Evi dence of Sharanda Jones’s involvenent in a conspiracy to
di stribute cocaine at 705 Rosehill is sufficient, though only barely so.
Kel | y Dougl as, Earnest Jones’ s girlfriend, testifiedthat when Genice

Striblingranout of cocai ne, Geni ce woul d t el ephone Sharanda Jones i n



Dougl as’ presence. Wthin 20 mnutes to two hours, Sharanda Jones woul d
arrive at 705 Rosehi || carryi ng a purse or paper bag. Dougl as never saw
Sharanda Jones actual ly deliver cocaine to Genice Stribling because
ei ther Jones woul d di sappear into Genice’s roomor Dougl as woul d be
asked to | eave the room After Sharanda Jones’ s visits, Genice woul d
agai n have cocai ne base to sell.

Bonita Pol k testifiedthat Genice Stribling gave her twenty bags
of crack to sell at $20 apiece. Instead of selling all twenty bags,
Bonita Pol k sold only three and consuned the rest. Thus, when she
returned two days | ater, she only had $60 to give Genice Stribling
i nst ead of the expected $400. Pol k falsely told Striblingthat the rest
of the crack had been stol en and prom sed t o pay her back. Stribling
apparent|y accepted thi s expl anati on but Sharanda Jones, who was pr esent
during thi s exchange, i medi atel y unl eashed atorrent of the nost vile
profanity agai nst Pol k for taking advantage of her crippled nother.

The t esti nony of Dougl as provi des sone ci rcunstanti al evi dence t hat
Shar anda Jones was suppl yi ng the house at 705 Rosehill w th cocai ne
base, and involved in a conspiracy to distribute cocai ne base from
there. Polk’s testinonyisthe basis of aweak i nference that the | ost
cocai ne was Jones’s, not Stribling’s. Wilethe collective force of
this circunstantial evidenceis not strong, it is enoughto sustainthe
jury’ s verdict that the singleconspiracyintheindictnent existed and

t hat Sharanda Jones was a nenber thereof.?3

3ln her brief to this Court, Jones also nounted a separate
chal l enge to the sufficiency of the evidence as to her conviction on
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Even if the evidence of Jones’s involvenent in the drug
di stribution at 705 Rosehi || was not sufficient, which woul d nean t hat
there was a vari ance between the i ndi ct mrent and t he proof offered at
trial, Jones would still not beentitledtorelief because she cannot
showt hat the vari ance af fect ed her substantial rights. This Court has
repeatedly hel d that “when the i ndi ct nent al | eges t he conspi racy count
as a si ngl e conspi racy, but the governnent proves nmultipl e conspiracies
and a defendant’s invol venent in at | east one of them then clearly
thereis novariance affecting that defendant’s substantial rights.”
Pena- Rodri guez, 110 F.3d at 1128. See also Morris, 46 F. 3d at 417;
United States v. Faul kner, 17 F.3d 745, 762 (5th Gr. 1994). Jones
correctly points out that this rule is not absolute and that she may
still obtainrelief if she can establishreversibleerror accordingto
general principles of joinder and severance. Pena-Rodriguez, 110 F. 3d
at 1128. Under the these general principles, Jones “bears the burden
of show ng specific and conpelling prejudicethat resultedinanunfair
trial and such prejudi ce nust be of atype agai nst whichthetrial court
was unable to afford protection.” Id.

Jones does not neet this burden. Over Jones’s objection, thetrial
court severed the other five nanmed conspirators. Therefore, Jones’ s the

only possi ble source of prejudice is the joinder of offenses (the

Count 1. Her only argunent is that the governnent did not offer
sufficient evidence tying her tothe drug distributionat 705 Rosehill.
Jones does not argue i nsufficiency as to her i nvol venent wi t h Antoi ne
or Franklin and Jackson. Thus, our resolution of the variance i ssue
al so di sposes of Jones’s insufficiency claim

11



Ant oi ne- Fr ankl i n- Jackson conspi racy wi th t he 705 Rosehi || conspiracy).
Jones adm ts that the evidence is sufficient toconvict her astothe
Frankl i n-Jackson conspiracy. It is significant that thetrial court
gave amul tipl e conspiracy i nstruction, whichthis Court has repeatedly
heldis generally adequate to cure any possibility of prejudice. 1d.
at 1128-29; Faul kner, 17 F. 3d at 761-62 &n. 19; Querra-Marez, 928 F. 2d
at 672. It is also significant that Jones failed to object tothis
i nstruction. Moreover, Jones’s acquittal on Counts 2-7 indi cates that
she was not a victimof guilt transference. Finally, as in Pena-
Rodri guez, the evidence presented at trial was not especi ally conpl ex;
therefore, the risks of juror confusion and prejudice inthe formof
guilt transference were m ni nal

In sum we find that there was no fatal variance between the
i ndictment and the proof at trial and that, even if such a variance
exi sted, Jones’s substantial rights were not affected thereby.

.

Jones concedes t hat t he evi dence as to t he Frankl i n-Jackson cocai ne
conspiracy, if believed, was sufficient to support a conviction for
violating 21 U S.C 88 841(a)(1l) and 846. However, Jones nai nt ai ns t hat
there was i nsufficient evidence as to her voluntary participationin
cocai ne distributionat 705 Rosehill. Jones opi nes that her case nust
be remanded t o det er m ne whet her her convi cti on on Count 1 was based on
t he sufficient ground of the Franklin-Jackson cocai ne conspiracy or the

i nsufficient ground of the 705 Rosehill conspiracy.
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As we have al ready discussed, if the evidence tying Jones to
cocai ne distributionat 705 Rosehill is not sufficient, thenthe proof
at trial established two conspiracies,* not the single conspiracy
chargedintheindictnent. Thelawof variance prescribes that we treat
t hi s probl emas one of joi nder of these “separate” conspiracy of fenses
and provide relief only if such joinder resulted in an unfair trial
accordingtotraditional principles of joinder and severance. It is
wel | -settledthat if the “joinder” of conspiracy of fenses did not result
inan unfair trial and there is sufficient evidence to support the
def endant’ s convi cti on as to one of the conspiracy of fenses, thenthe
ori ginal conspiracy conviction stands. Jones nowattenpts to circunvent
thiswell-settledlawby arguingthat if the evidenceis insufficient
as to any one of the separate conspiracy offenses, the case nust be
remanded t o det er mi ne whet her the ori gi nal conspiracy convi cti on was
predi cat ed upon t hat separ at e conspi racy of fense for which sufficient
evi dence was not produced at trial. W decline Jones’sinvitationto

underm ne the | aw of variance in this manner.?®

4Jones al | eges that t he proof establishedthree conspiracies, but
never attenpts to show that the evidence tying her to Antoi ne was
i nsufficient.

SJones franes the i ssue as t hough t he ori gi nal conviction on Count
1 could have rested on several alternative grounds. Wile that is
clearly not correct, thelawof variance, as we have descri bed, achi eves
an anal ogous result providedthereis no prejudice fromthe joinder of
def endants or offenses. Moreover, it is well-settled that if a
convi ction coul d rest ontwo bases but thereis sufficient evidence for
only one, the convictionstands. Giffinv. United States, 112 S. Ct.
466, 473 (1991) (“[When a jury returns a guilty verdict on an
i ndi ctment charging several acts in the conjunctive, as Turner’s

13



L1l

“I'l]f the gover nnent seeks enhanced penal ti es based on t he anount
of drugs under 21 U.S.C. 8 841(b)(1)(A) or (B), the quantity nust be
statedintheindictnent and submttedtoajury for afinding of proof
beyond a reasonabl e doubt.” United States v. Doggett, 230 F. 3d 160, 165
(5th Gr. 2000). Under 21 U S.C. 8§ 846 the penalty for conspiracy is
t he sane as that proscri bed for the of fense whi ch was t he obj ect of the
conspiracy, here the distributionof cocai ne base. 21 U S. C. 8§ 841(a)
denounces, inter alia, thedistributionof acontrolled substance, and
the penalty for a violation of section 841(a) is fixed by section
841(b). Here, the governnent did seek enhanced penal ties under 21
US C 8§8841(b)(1) (A (iii), which provides for aprison sentence of from
tenyearstolifeif the section 841(a) violationinvolves 50 grans or
nmor e of a m xture or substance cont ai ni ng cocai ne base. The i ndi ct nent
al | eged that Jones had conspired to distribute 50 grans or nore of a
m xt ure or substance cont ai ni ng a det ect abl e anount of cocai ne base, and
the district court’s charge to the jury repeated this allegation.
However, the charge did not requirethejury to find beyond areasonabl e
doubt that Jones had conspired to distribute 50 grans or nore of a
subst ance cont ai ni ng a det ect abl e anount of cocai ne base. Becauset he
jury didnot havetofindthe drug quantity beyond a reasonabl e doubt,

Jones requests that she be resentenced under 21 U.S. C. § 841(b)(1)(CO).

i ndi ctnment did, the verdict stands if the evidenceis sufficient with
respect to any one of the acts charged.” (quoting Turner v. United
States, 90 S.Ct. 642, 654 (1970))).

14



The district court’s failure to submt the drug quantity as an
el emrent of Count 1 that had to be found beyond a reasonabl e doubt was
error notwithstanding the jury instructions’ recitation of the
indictnment’ s drug quantity allegation. United States v. Sl aughter, 2000
WL 1946670, *3 (5th G r. 2000). But because Jones di d not object tothe
instruction, there can be norelief unless the error was plain. 1d.
“Plainerror” requires: (1) anerror, (2) that is plainor obvious, and
(3) that affected the defendant’s substantial rights. United States v.
dano, 113 S. . 1770, 1776 (1993). Thethirdcriterionrequires the
def endant t o bear t he burden of nmaki ng a show ng of prejudice fromthe
error, i.e. that the error probably influenced the verdict. Id. at
1778.

Inlight of Doggett, failureto instruct the jury that the drug
quantity was an el enent of the crinme nust be consi dered obvi ous error
(thoughthetrial court didnot have the benefit of Apprendi). However,
Jones does not even attenpt to nake t he show ng of prejudice required
by dano. Even if Jones could, sonehow, establish that the jury
pr obabl y woul d have acquitted her on Count 1 had t he drug quantity been
i ncl uded as an el enent thereof, relief under FED. R CRM P. 52(b) is
perm ssive, not mandatory. Id. Qur discretion shouldonly be exercised
to provide relief if the error “seriously affect[s] the fairness,
integrity or public reputationof judicial proceedings.” 1d. at 1779
(quoting United States v. Atkinson, 56 S. . 391, 392). Suchis not the

case, nor is there any reasonabl e possibility of prejudice, inatrial
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such as thi s i nwhichthe def endant deni ed i nvol venent wi th any cocai ne
or cocai ne base, inwhich drug quantity was not at all an i ssue and at
whi ch evi dence was presented t hat showed t he def endant traffickedin
many ki | ograns of cocai ne knowi ng it woul d be converted i nto cocai ne
base. Thereisreally noreasonable possibility that ajury would have
found Jones guilty of conspiringto distribute sone quantity of cocai ne
base | ess t han 50 grans but not guilty of conspiringto distribute 50
grans or nore. Accordingly, we reject Jones’s Apprendi and Doggett
based request for resentencing.
| V.

Jones conpl ai ns about every aspect of her sentencing; specifically,
the district court’s determ nation that her base of fense | evel was 38
andits decisionto apply four upward adj ustnents to t hat base of f ense
| evel to achieve a final offense | evel of 46. The district court’s
factual findings astothesematters arereviewedonly for clear error.
United States v. Cho, 136 F.3d 982, 983 (5th Cr. 1998).

A

US S G 882D1.1(a) and (c) provide for a base of fense | evel of
38 if the defendant conspiredtotrafficinat |east 1.5 kil ograns of
cocai ne base. Jones first argues that it was clear error for the
district court to find that the conversion of powder cocaine into
cocai ne base by Franklin and Jackson was foreseeable to her. W
disagree. “[I1]t is proper to sentence a defendant under the drug

quantity table [U S . S.G § 2D1.1(C] for ‘crack’ cocaine if the
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conversi on of powder cocaine into ‘crack’ cocaine is foreseeable to
him” United States v. Alix, 86 F. 3d 429, 437 (5th Gr. 1996) (quoting
Uni ted States v. Angul o- Lopez, 7 F. 3d 1506, 1511 (10th G r. 1993). The
record indicates that Jones knewthat Julie Franklinwas convertingthe
powder cocai ne Jones sold her into cocaine base. |In fact, Julie
Franklin conplained to Jones because she was having difficulty
acconpl i shing the conversion. Because Franklin was such a fine
cust oner, Jones repl aced two ki | ograns of cocai ne that Franklin asserted
woul d not “rock up” properly. On one occasion, sone of the cocai ne
Franklin returned had al ready been “rocked up”. On other occasi ons,
Frankl i n and Jones woul d di scuss Frankl i n’s conversion techni que. The
PSRattributed 26. 78 kg of powder cocai ne t o Jones, whi ch was det er m ned
to be convertibleinto 13. 39 kg of cocai ne base. There was testi nony
at trial that Jones had sol d 36-40 kg of powder cocai ne to Franklin.
Thi s evi dence, wi thout nore, provides anpl e support for the base of f ense
| evel of 38.

The PSR al so hel d Jones responsi bl e for 10. 528 kg of cocai ne base
from705 Rosehill. W do not knowhowthe probation office arrived at
this quantity, but Jones argues only that there was no evidence to
support any i nvol venent by her inthe distribution of cocai ne base at
705 Rosehill. W have already decided that there was sufficient
evi dence adduced at trial to support arational juror’s concl usion,
beyond a reasonable doubt, that Jones was involved wth crack

distributionat 705 Rosehill. Thus, thedistrict court’s finding, by
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preponderance, that Jones was so involved is not clearly erroneous.
B

Jones objects to the two-1evel enhancenent for possession of a
firearmunder U S.S.G 8§ 2D1.1(b)(1).

“Weapon possessionis establishedif the governnent proves

by a preponderance of the evidence that a tenporal and

spatial relationship existed between the weapon, the drug

traffickingactivity, and the defendant. The gover nnment nust
provi de evidence that the weapon was found in the sane

| ocati on where drugs or drug paraphernalia are stored or

where part of the transaction occurred.”

United States v. Caicedo, 103 F. 3d 410, 412 (5th G r. 1997) (citations
omtted). Jones admttedtocarryingafirearmw th her onall of her
trips to Houston, though she deni ed ever transporting cocai ne duri ng any
of thosetrips. The evidence at trial strongly indicates that Jones did
transport cocai ne fromHouston to Dallas on many occasi ons. This,
coupl ed with her adm ssion that she was al ways carrying a firearmon
these trips, justifies the two-1evel enhancenent under Caci edo.
C.

Jones al so asserts that the district court clearly erred in
enhanci ng her offense | evel for being the | eader/organi zer and for
obstruction of justiceinthe formof perjury when she took t he stand
in her owmn defense. Neither claimhas nerit, as the record supports
bot h fi ndi ngs.

Concl usi on

For t he reasons st at ed herei n, the convi cti on of Sharanda Jones as

to Count 1 of the supersedingindictnent andthelife sentence i nposed
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therefor are

AFF| RMED.
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